
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

Civil Action No. 09-cv-02757-WYD-KMT

COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION, a Colorado non-profit Corporation, et al., on
behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs, 

v.

ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO., et al., 

Defendants.

PLAINTIFFS’ REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF
MOTION FOR CLASS CERTIFICATION
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A&F challenges Plaintiffs’ standing under the rubrics of typicality and adequacy. 1

Defs.’ Opp’n to Mot. for Class Certification (“Opp.,” ECF 155) at 6-7, 9-13.  Because standing is
jurisdictional, Plaintiffs address it first. 

-1-

Many of Defendants’ (collectively “A&F’s”) Hollister stores have main entrances with steps

that are inaccessible to people who use wheelchairs.  This Court has held, with respect to two stores,

that these entrances violate title III of the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), 42 U.S.C.

§ 12181 et seq.  ECF 109 at 12.  Plaintiffs move to certify a class of people with disabilities who have

encountered discrimination at the 249 stores with materially identical entrances.  This will ensure

that any injunction efficiently remedies the widest number of noncompliant stores.  A&F’s

objections to this motion are meritless:

! Plaintiffs have standing to bring claims under title III.  A&F’s argument ignores
Tenth Circuit precedent, this Court’s ruling, and on-point authority from this district. 

! The class includes only the stores with steps and challenges only those steps under a
single statute, so there is a single, common issue.  

! Plaintiffs have no conflict with the class and there is no evidence they will not
vigorously prosecute this case.  The remainder of A&F’s adequacy objections are
irrelevant.  

I. The Individual Plaintiffs Have Standing1

A. Applicable Standard

 To have standing to seek injunctive relief, a plaintiff must show (1) injury in fact that is

(a) concrete and particularized and (b) actual or imminent; (2) that the injury is fairly traceable to the

challenged action; and (3) that the injury will be redressed by the relief requested.  Tandy v. City of

Wichita, 380 F.3d 1277, 1283 (10th Cir. 2004) (citing Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555,

560-61 (1992)).  In denying A&F’s motion to dismiss, this Court held that “[i]n order to demonstrate

a ‘real and immediate’ threat of future injury in an ADA claim, a plaintiff need only show that he has

visited a public accommodation on a prior occasion, suffered an injury on account of accessibility
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Deposition excerpts are attached to the Declaration of Caitlin R. Anderson.2
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barriers, and is currently deterred from visiting that accommodation on account of those barriers.” 

ECF 98 at 5 (“MTD Order”).  Based on that standard, this Court held that “the individual named

Plaintiffs have satisfied the ‘real and immediate threat’ requirement.  The named Plaintiffs have

alleged that they will return to Defendants’ stores if the ADA violations are remedied.”  Id.  

Plaintiffs continue to satisfy that standard at the class certification stage.  The proposed

representative Plaintiffs have both submitted testimony that have been to and intend to return to

Hollister stores both to shop (when the violations are remedied) and as testers, to assess compliance. 

See Farrar Decl. ¶¶ 16-19; Hansen Decl .¶¶ 35-37.  

Ms. Farrar testified that she had been to both Park Meadows (“PM”) and Orchard Town

Center (“OTC”), Farrar Dep. 47:8-10; 48:11-15,  and experienced the discriminatory conditions at2

the Hollister stores at both malls.  Id. 54:12-18; 55:10-14; 59:17 - 60:2. Ms. Farrar’s 12-year-old

daughter “covets” Hollister clothing.  Id. 67:5 - 18.  On at least three occasions, they have been to

OTC and been deterred by the steps from shopping at Hollister.  Id. 53:17 - 57:23; 60:21-24.  Ms.

Farrar has also shopped at PM and been deterred by Hollister’s steps.  Id. 58:4 -11.  While she did

not go to those malls in order to shop at Hollister in particular, she went with the intent of

shopping.  Id. 59:8-16; 120:11 - 16.  If the Hollister store had been accessible, she and her daughter

likely would have gone in and purchased something.  Id. 60:8-13; 75:25 - 76:5.  

Ms. Farrar testified that once Hollister made its entrances accessible, she would shop there. 

Farrar Dep. 82:17-24; see also Farrar Decl. ¶¶ 16-17 (intends to shop at Hollister stores if A&F

remedies the barriers she encountered).  She also intends to return to Hollister stores to test whether

accessibility barriers have been remedied.  Id. ¶ 18.  She is not willing to use the separate entrances

because of the message of difference that they send, Farrar Dep. 84:21 - 85:12, or to patronize the
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Should this Court hold that one individual Plaintiff has standing but the other does3

not, that is still sufficient to certify the class, as only one representative plaintiff is necessary.  Cook v.
Rockwell Int’l Corp., 151 F.R.D. 378, 387 (D. Colo. 1993).  Should this Court hold that both lack
standing, it “may certify the class conditioned upon the substitution of another named plaintiff.” 
Nat’l Fed’n of the Blind v. Target Corp., 582 F. Supp 2d 1185, 1201 (N.D. Cal. 2007) (citing Kremens v.
Bartley, 431 U.S. 119, 135 (1977)).  

-3-

stores before they are brought into compliance, id. at 80:2 - 81:11.  She is going to continue to shop

at PM likely six times each year  Id. 75:7-12, Farrar Supp. Decl. ¶ 2.  

Ms. Hansen estimates that she shops at PM two to three times each year.  Hansen Dep.

23:4-5.  Although she had been to PM on many occasions, prior to 2009, she never tried to enter the

Hollister store, in part because of the steps.  Id. at 25:9-15.  When she went in August, 2009, it was

to return an item of clothing; she chose the PM Hollister because it was closest to her.  Id. 32:21 -

33:14; 62:16-22.  She has also shopped at OTC on one occasion, and encountered discrimination at

that Hollister store.  Id. at 23:6-7; 28:7-23.  She went both to investigate accessibility at Hollister and

to shop for a gift for her daughter.  Id. 29:2-6.  

Because Ms. Farrar and Ms. Hansen both  testified that they will return to shop at Hollister3

stores once the ADA violations are remedied, they satisfy this Court’s standard.  See ECF 98 at 6.  

B. A&F’s Standing Argument Ignores this Court’s Ruling, Tenth Circuit
Precedent and An On-Point Decision in this District 

A&F argues that Plaintiffs lack standing because they did not demonstrate sufficiently

concrete plans to return and because they were “testers.”  Opp. at 10-12.  A&F’s standing argument

fails to address (1) this Court’s MTD Order setting forth the applicable standard and applying it to

Plaintiffs’ allegations; (2) the Tenth Circuit’s decision explicitly endorsing tester standing under title

II of the ADA, Tandy, 380 F.3d at 1286, based on the Supreme Court’s endorsement of tester

standing under the Fair Housing Act, Havens Realty Corp. v. Coleman, 455 U.S. 363, 374-75 (1982); and

(3) the decision from another court in this district addressing shopper and tester standing under title
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III of the ADA in circumstances very similar to the present, Colorado Cross Disability Coalition v.

Hermanson Family Ltd. Partnership I, 1997 WL 33471623, *4-7 (D. Colo. Aug. 5, 1997).  Besides

Tandy’s appearance in the parenthetical to an Ohio district court case, Opp. at 7, none of these four

crucial, on-point, precedents is cited in A&F’s brief.  

In Tandy, the Tenth Circuit held that a group of plaintiffs -- organized and trained by a

disability advocacy organization -- who had ridden Wichita’s public transit system to determine its

compliance with title II of the ADA and the Rehabilitation Act had standing under those statutes. 

Id. at 1281, 1285-87 (citing Havens, 455 U.S. at 374-75).  Testimony that one plaintiff used the transit

system “several times per year” was sufficiently concrete to confer standing, id. at 1284, and another

plaintiff, who did “not intend to use the [system] for personal transportation” but rather “averred

that he will ‘test’ [it] ‘several times per year,’” had standing as a tester.  Id. at 1285.  The court

explained that “the injury underlying tester standing stems from the denial of the tester’s statutory

rights,” and that Congress intended to confer upon people with disabilities “a legal right not to be

excluded from participation in the services of a public entity by reason of [their] disability.” Id. at

1286 (citing Havens).  This extended to the tester because he had “established that, as a tester, he is

under a real and immediate threat of experiencing [bus] lift malfunctions in at least twenty percent of

his several yearly attempts to use” the transit system.  Id. at 1287.  

Hermanson addressed standing in factual circumstances very similar to the present case,

holding that a shopper who was also a tester had standing when he had been to, and planned to

return to, the shopping area.  1997 WL 33471623, at *4-7 (D. Colo. Aug. 5, 1997).  The plaintiff had

first visited the businesses in question -- four stores in Denver’s Larimer Square -- “with the

intention of surveying which buildings were or were not accessible.”  Id. at *1.  He had been to

Larimer Square and planned to go in the future, to shop and browse in stores that were accessible. 
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Hermanson also rejected A&F’s argument that Plaintiffs lack standing because there4

are Hollister stores closer to their homes than PM or OTC, Opp. at 11, 12, calling such an argument
“specious.”  1997 WL 33471623, at *6.

-5-

Id. at *2.  The court held that these future plans were sufficiently concrete to satisfy Lujan: 

Shopping is one of the great American pastimes.  People browse in shops and shopping
areas, see what is available and make purchases if something catches their fancy.  There
simply is no requirement in the ADA that a person desiring entrance into a place of public
accommodation have a specific desire to make a purchase at that particular business, as
defendants’ arguments intimate. 

Id. at *4.  The court also addressed the question of tester standing, explaining: 

Plaintiff, although arguably a tester [on his first visit], will still confront the architectural
barriers that preclude him from gaining access to the public accommodations at issue. As an
individual required to utilize a wheelchair for mobility, the Court finds that it is enough that
plaintiff show the discrimination on the basis of disability has deprived him of the ability to
gain access to the public accommodations and that a failure to redress the injury will
continue to deprive him of access to those facilities in the future. It is not necessary that
plaintiff have specific plans to shop at any of the four shops at any specific date. His
averments that he intends and plans to shop in Larimer Square are sufficient for purposes of
this motion to support a determination that plaintiff has standing.

Id. at *6.  4

Tandy and Hermanson underscore that Plaintiffs here have standing.  They have a statutory

right to full and equal enjoyment of Hollister stores.  See 42 U.S.C. § 12182(a).  They will be denied

that right every time they shop at PM and OTC not just twenty to thirty percent of the time, as was

the case in Tandy.  Tandy also makes clear that plans to go several times per year are sufficient, a

standard both Plaintiffs meet, Farrar Supp. Decl. ¶ 2; Hansen Dep. 23:4-5.  Hermanson, applying

Lujan in the context of title III, held that there is no need to make specific plans to visit an

inaccessible store when you have plans to shop or browse in the shopping area in question.  

These cases are in harmony with title III’s remedial provision, which states that “[n]othing in

this section shall require a person with a disability to engage in a futile gesture if such person has

actual notice” of a violation, 42 U.S.C. § 12188(a)(1), and with a number of other cases holding that
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Nat’l Alliance for Accessibility v. Rite Aid of N.C., 2011 WL 4499294, at *5-6 (M.D.N.C.5

Sep. 27, 2011); Nat’l Alliance for Accessibility v. Waffle House, Inc., 2011 WL 2580679, *2-3 (E.D.N.C.
June 29, 2011); Norkunas v. Park Rd. Shopping Ctr., 777 F. Supp. 2d 998, 1002 (W.D. N.C. Apr. 14,
2011); Judy v. Arcade L.P., 2011 WL 345867, at *3-4 (D. Md. Feb. 2, 2011) (business in Maryland; one
plaintiff lived in Florida; the other lived in Maryland but had not previously patronized the business);
Judy v. Pingue, 2009 WL 4261389, at *3 (S.D. Ohio Nov. 25, 2009); Harris v. Stonecrest Care Auto Ctr.,
472 F. Supp. 2d 1208, 1216 (S.D. Cal. 2007) (Plaintiff lived over 600 miles from business). 
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knowledge of barriers along with either deterrence or a conditional intent to return -- that is, an

intent to return when the premises are brought into compliance -- suffices to establish standing.  See,

e.g., Doran v. 7-Eleven, Inc., 524 F.3d 1034, 1041 (9th Cir. 2008) (holding that a prior visit and current

deterrence is sufficient to establish standing); Hirsch v. Hui Zhen Huang, 2011 WL 6129939, at *3

(S.D.N.Y. Dec. 9, 2011) (holding standing existed where the plaintiff “alleged a conditional desire to

return, like those found adequate in” Friends of the Earth v. Laidlaw Environmental Services, 528 U.S. 167,

183-84 (2000) and Disabled in Action of Metro. N.Y. v. Trump Int’l Hotel & Tower, 2003 WL 1751785 at

*8 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 2 2003)); Kreisler v. Second Ave. Diner Corp., 2011 WL 4686500, at *2 (S.D. N.Y.

Oct. 5, 2011) (awareness of steps at the front door of a diner and the resulting deterrence are

sufficient to establish standing); Betancourt v. Federated Dep’t Stores, 732 F. Supp. 2d 693, 709-10 (W.D.

Tex. 2010) (“any disabled plaintiff who alleges that she is being denied the opportunity to visit or is

currently being deterred from visiting” has standing); Clark v. McDonald’s Corp., 213 F.R.D. 198, 229

(D.N.J. 2003) (holding that standing existed; fact that plaintiff was aware of barriers and discouraged

from patronizing business constituted injury).  

The cases cited by A&F in which standing is not found -- all from districts in other circuits --

fall into two categories:  cases involving plaintiffs who lived in different states from (or, in one case,

in the same state but over 600 miles from) the challenged stores;  and cases involving plaintiffs who5
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Am. Patriots Advocating for Disabled Rights, Inc. v. Budget Suites of Am., LLC, 2011 WL6

1197531 (D. Nev. Mar. 29, 2011); Access 4 All, Inc. v. Thirty East 30th Street, LLC, 2006 U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 96742 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 11, 2006).  

 Shotz v. Cates, 256 F.3d 1077 (11th Cir. 2001) (does not address tester standing);7

Harris v. Stonecrest Care Auto Ctr., 472 F. Supp. 2d 1208 (S.D. Cal. 2007) (holds no tester standing);
Cross v. Boston Mkt. Corp., 2007 WL 6196071 (S.D. Cal. May 30, 2007) (does not address tester
standing); Wilson v. Costco Wholesale Corp., 426 F. Supp. 2d 1115 (S.D. Cal. 2006) (same): Moss v.
Comfort Inn Woodland Hills, 2006 WL 3066365 (C.D. Cal. Oct. 20, 2006), aff’d, 275 Fed. App’x 717
(9th Cir. 2008) (same); Molski v. Kahn Winery, 381 F. Supp. 2d 1209 (C.D. Cal. 2005) (same); Molski v.
Mandarin Touch Rest., 359 F. Supp. 2d 924 (C.D. Cal. 2005) (same), aff’d sub nom. Molski v. Evergreen
Dynasty Corp., 500 F.3d 1047 (9th Cir. 2007); Rodriguez v. Investco, L.L.C., 305 F. Supp. 2d 1278 (M.D.
Fla. 2004) (same); Brother v. Tiger Partner, LLC, 331 F. Supp. 2d 1368 (M.D. Fla. 2004) (same); Moreno
v. G & M Oil Co., 88 F. Supp. 2d 1116 (C.D. Cal. 2000) (same); Naiman v. N.Y. Univ., 1997 WL
249970 (S.D.N.Y. May 13, 1997) (same).

-7-

lived in the same city as challenged hotels.   In each case, standing was denied on the grounds that it6

was unlikely that a plaintiff would travel a long distance to patronize a store or would stay in a hotel

in his or her hometown.  These circumstances are distinguishable from the present in which

Plaintiffs seek to patronize stores in their hometown.  

As for tester standing, instead of addressing the governing precedent in Havens and Tandy,

A&F quotes a student note for the proposition that “‘relief has been denied by [t]he vast majority of

courts that have dealt with the issue’” under title III.  Opp. at 6-7 (quoting Johnson, Note: Testers

Standing Up for Title III of the ADA, 59 Case W. Res. L. Rev. 683, 697 (2009)).  The note cites ten

cases in support of this dramatic assertion, only one of which actually addresses tester standing.7

In fact, as Tandy demonstrates, tester standing under the ADA is no different from ordinary

standing: The plaintiff must still demonstrate that he or she is likely to face injury in the future.  See

Tandy, 380 F.3d at 1286-87; see also Betancourt, 732 F. Supp. 2d at 710 (“[T]he fact that a disabled

plaintiff in a Title III case is a tester does not change the analysis or outcome.” (citing Havens));

Molski v. Arby’s Huntington Beach, 359 F. Supp 2d 938, 947 (C.D. Cal. 2005) (“Mr. Molski’s motivation

for visiting Arby’s again is not relevant to the legal issue before the Court.  What is critical to the
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Court’s inquiry is whether he has alleged he suffered discrimination and because of his intention to

return, will suffer discrimination again in the future.”); Disability Advocates and Counseling Group, Inc. v.

4SK, Inc., 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 44389, at *27-28 (M.D. Fla. Apr. 6, 2005) (citing Tandy; holding

that if testers having standing under title II, they would have standing under title III and that tester

plaintiff had standing).  As demonstrated above, Plaintiffs meet this standard. 

II. The Class Satisfies Rule 23(a).

A. Numerosity

A&F’s only argument concerning numerosity is that “common sense” cannot suffice.  Opp.

at 3.  It cites no cases in support, and its position is contrary to established precedent.  See, e.g.,

Neiberger v. Hawkins, 208 F.R.D. 301, 313 (D. Colo. 2002); CCDC v. Taco Bell Corp., 184 F.R.D. 354,

358 (D. Colo. 1999); 1 William B. Rubenstein, Newberg on Class Actions, § 3.13 (5th ed.). 

B. Commonality

Plaintiffs seek certification of a class that includes only those individuals who have

patronized the 249 Hollister stores with steps.  ECF 125 at 12.  Thus, A&F’s objection that “[m]any

Hollister stores do not have a porch with steps,” Opp. at 2, is irrelevant.  

A&F objects that “non-uniform factors” such as porch displays, automatic door buttons,

and shutters at the side entrances preclude commonality.  Opp. at 4-5.  These factors were not,

however, relevant to this Court’s decision that the inaccessible main entrances violated title III. 

Rather, Plaintiffs respectfully submit that the Court’s decision focused on “the big picture” that

A&F was missing:  that the raised main entrances violated title III’s prohibition on different or

separate accommodations and its requirement of integration.   ECF 109 at 11 (quoting 42 U.S.C.

§§ 12182(b)(1)(A)(iii) & (b)(1)(B)).  This analysis does not rely on merchandise displays or shutters.  

A&F asserts that “Plaintiffs’ photographic exhibits” show differences in entry decor and
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door buttons.  Opp. at 5.  Although A&F did not provide a cite, this can only refer to the exhibits to

Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, ECF 87, as there were no photographic exhibits to

the class certification motion.  Tellingly, the photographs submitted with ECF 87 show a variety of

conditions -- compare, e.g., ECF 87-2, Ex. 2 (showing a decorated porch) with id., Ex. 10 (showing an

undecorated porch) -- yet this Court reached a common answer to the common question whether

these entrances violated the ADA, holding that they did.  ECF 109 at 12.  In other words, not only

is the central question in this litigation capable of a common answer, see Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Dukes,

131 S. Ct. 2541, 2551 (2011), we already know what that common answer would be.  

C. Typicality

A&F’s principal argument on typicality is that the individual Plaintiffs are subject to a unique

standing defense based on the fact that they were testers.  Opp. at 6.  This is wrong as a matter of

fact and law.  The individual Plaintiffs were and continue to be motivated by a desire to shop at

Hollister stores just as the rest of the class would be.  See, e.g., Farrar Dep. 79:18-80:1; 82:17-21;

Hansen Dep. 71:2-5; 71:24 - 72:3.  More importantly, tester standing is evaluated under the same

standards -- including real and immediate threat of future injury -- as any other standing question.

See, e.g., Tandy, 380 F.3d at 1287.  Thus, even with respect to this question, the individual Plaintiffs

are typical of the class.  

D. Adequacy

Adequacy is determined by two questions:  whether the named plaintiffs and their counsel

have a conflict with the class; and whether they will prosecute the action vigorously.  Rutter &

Wilbanks Corp. v. Shell Oil Co., 314 F.3d 1180, 1187-88 (10th Cir. 2002).  A&F offers no evidence of

either a conflict or a lack of vigor on the part of the named Plaintiffs or their attorneys.  Instead,

A&F once again argues standing, asserting that the individual Plaintiffs are subject to this unique
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defense.  Opp. at 9-12.  This question goes to typicality and was addressed above.  

A&F argues that Ms. Farrar’s 12 arrests disqualify her.  All but one of these were related to

civil disobedience in support of disability rights, Farrar Dep. 28:16 - 29:15, Opp. at 12, and what

A&F characterizes as “criminal child neglect,” Opp. at 12, was in fact a ticket Ms. Farrar received

for leaving her children in her car while she ran into a store to pay a bill.  Farrar Dep. at 89:20 - 90:1. 

This does not render her inadequate to represent the class.  See, e.g., White v. E-Loan, Inc., 2006 WL

2411420, at *3-4 (N.D. Cal. 2006) (holding that multiple convictions for theft did not render

plaintiff inadequate class representative); In re Computer Memories Secs. Litig., 111 F.R.D. 675 (N.D.

Cal. 1986) (holding that indictment for fraud and racketeering did not render plaintiff inadequate

class representative).  As that latter case noted, “‘[A] court must be wary of a defendant’s efforts to

defeat representation of a class on grounds of inadequacy when the effect may be to eliminate any

class representation.’”  Id. at 682 (internal quotations omitted).

With respect to CCDC’s adequacy, Plaintiffs rest on their original motion.  The suggestion

that CCDC’s motives for class certification are financial is misguided.  See Opp. at 1, 9.  Certifying a

class will reduce both parties’ attorneys’ fees in contrast with the alternative:  multiple individual

lawsuits around the country seeking to bring Hollister stores into compliance.

III. Rule 23(b)(2)

A&F’s only argument against Rule 23(b)(2) certification is that there are differences among

the stores at issue, though it does not specify which differences it believes are relevant to the

23(b)(2) analysis.  Opp at 13-14.  As established above, however, none of the differences it discusses

elsewhere in its brief is material.  The class is defined only to reach those Hollister stores that have

steps at the entrance, and the Court has already ruled that two stores that had that common feature

but differed in ways relied on by A&F were in violation of Title III.  See supra at 8-9.
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Dated: January 11, 2012 Respectfully submitted,

/s/  Amy F. Robertson          
Amy F. Robertson
Fox & Robertson, P.C.
104 Broadway, Suite 400
Denver, Colorado 80203
Telephone: (303) 595-9700
Facsimile: (303) 595-9705
E-mail: arob@foxrob.com

Kevin W. Williams
Andrew C. Montoya
Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition
655 Broadway, Suite 775
Denver, Colorado 80203
Telephone: (303) 839-1775
Facsimile: (303) 839-1782
E-mail: kwilliams@ccdconline.org
E-mail: amontoya@ccdconline.org 

Bill Lann Lee
Julia Campins
Lewis, Feinberg, Lee, Renaker & Jackson, P.C.
476 - 9th Street
Oakland, CA 94607
Telephone: (510) 839-6824
Facsimile: (510) 839-7839
E-mail: blee@lewisfeinberg.com
E-mail: jcampins@lewisfeinberg.com 

                                         
Attorneys for Plaintiff
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on January 11, 2012, a copy of the foregoing document was filed with
the Clerk of Court using the CM/ECF system, which will provide electronic service to the
following:

Gregory A. Eurich
geurich@hollandhart.com

Thomas B. Ridgley
tbridgley@vorys.com

Mark A. Knueve
maknueve@vors.com 

  /s/ Caitlin R. Anderson            
Caitlin R. Anderson
Paralegal
Fox & Robertson, PC
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